Movement of Foxfonna rock glacier in Svalbard between 2017-2019

Elias Lundström

2020

Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science Lund University Sölvegatan 12 S-223 62 Lund Sweden



Elias Lundström (2020). *Movement of Foxfonna rock glacier in Svalbard between 2017-2019 Rörelse av Foxfonna blockglaciär i Svalbard mellan 2017-2019* Bachelor's degree thesis, 15 credits in *Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science* Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University

Level: Bachelor of Science (BSc)

Course duration: March 2020 until June 2020

Disclaimer

This document describes work undertaken as part of a program of study at the University of Lund. All views and opinions expressed herein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the institute.

Movement of Foxfonna rock glacier in Svalbard between 2017-2019

Elias Lundström

Bachelor's thesis, 15 credits, in *Physical Geography and Ecosystem* Science

> Fredrik Lagergren Lund University

Exam committee: Jutta Holst, Lund University Per-Ola Olsson, Lund University

Abstract

The movement of a rock glacier located at the bottom of the Foxfonna glacier, Svalbard, Norway, was studied through the use of photogrammetry and feature tracking software, between the years of 2017-2019, as well as elevation changes between 2009 and 2019. This could aid in further knowledge about the rapid velocity changes of rock glaciers in a continuous permafrost environment. It was found that the front part of the rock glacier moved approximately 2m between 2017 and 2018, and up to 2.5m/y between 2018-2019. The elevation changes showed a large accumulation of mass in its frontal area over the years, where some features have moved around 20m since 2009. Further south on the upper part of the rock glacier, movement changes were few, but elevation changes still occurred. Factors, such as icing, internal hydrology, permafrost changes, that could influence the movement of the rock glacier have been discussed and suggestions for future studies, including ground penetrating radar (GPR) and temperature measurements, have been made.

Contents

1	Introduction						
	1.1	Aim	1				
	1.2	Research questions	1				
2	Background						
	2.1	Rock glaciers	2				
	2.2	Climate change and glaciers	2				
	2.3	UAV monitoring	3				
3	Material and methods						
	3.1	Study area	3				
	3.2	Data and photogrametry	5				
		3.2.1 Ground control points	6				
4	Results 7						
	4.1	Movement 2017-2019	9				
	4.2	Elevation changes 2009-2019	10				
5	Discussion						
	5.1	Feasibility of UAV images	10				
	5.2	General	11				
	5.3	Limitations & future studies	12				
6	Con	clusion	13				

1 Introduction

The geomorphological structure known as rock glaciers is a permafrost landform, which in its form resembles a glacier except that it is covered in rocks and sediments of different size. These glaciers are usually found in high relief areas where they slowly creep downslope. Typically, they are found in dry- to mildly humid climates (Humlum, 1998). Permafrost is defined as permanently frozen ground, at variable depths (Harland, 1997), and in Svalbard it penetrates the ground within the depth ranges of 100m closer to the coast and down to 500m in more mountainous areas. Permafrost can also be found in formations on top of the soil, such as rock glaciers (Humlum et al., 2003). Understanding the thermal and dynamic evolution of rock glaciers would increase the knowledge of how permafrost aggrades into deglaciated and/or melting glacial environments. Furthermore, this knowledge would be useful where hazardous situations related to rock glaciers can occur, either close to infrastructure or close to proximity areas where e.g. debris flow or rockfall can become more prominent (Schoeneich et al., 2015). Rock glaciers can also be affected by a growth in active layer thickness, the top layer of the soil between the permafrost and the atmosphere that thaws in the summer and freezes in winter (Anisimov et al., 1997), which can accelerate slope processes (Bilt et al., 2019). Water can also be dammed in an ice-cored terrain that undergoes accelerated changes, creating additional hazards in populated areas (Richardson and Reynolds, 2000).

It is important to study the movement of the rock glaciers to predict the changes in the hydrology and water balance that might result. For example, changes in the hydrology on Bogebreen glacier might lead to a shortage of fresh water to the main city in Svalbard (Kalinowska et al., 2020). This is being caused by the movements of the rock glacier in the terminus of the glacier that is causing the water to take different paths.

1.1 Aim

The main purpose of this study is to see how much movement occurs on the Foxfonna rock glacier annually between 2017-2019, as well as over a 10 year period between 2009-2019 based on DEMs, and to see if an unmanned aerial vehicle and photogrametry-based study is feasible for this, along with exploring features that might be contributing to this.

1.2 Research questions

- How much have the rock glacier advanced and what changes in velocities can be seen between different years?
- What topographical changes can be found on the rock glacier?
- What accuracies in DEMs and ortophotos can be achieved from the UAV images?

2 Background

2.1 Rock glaciers

Rock glaciers mainly form through two different processes, from a periglacial environment (Humlum, 1999) and from a glacial origin (Krainer and Mostler, 2000; Outcalt and Benedict, 1965). Periglacial rock glaciers, or talus derived rock glaciers are formed from dirty snow avalanches, i.e. a mixture of snow and rocks, which congregates into one large unit, while glacially derived ones are formed from rocks and ice which are left behind in the frontal area of a glacier during its retreat. Rock glaciers usually form in the shape of a tongue, reaching up to a length of 200-800m, but can stretch out further. The thickness of the tongues usually vary between 20-100m (Humlum, 1999). Rock glaciers creep downslope at a slow speed, from a few centimeters to some meters annually, and as a result of this they deform and can act as a mass transport system for debris (Kaufmann et al., 2018).

Rock glaciers with relatively high velocities (>1m/yr) can be found in e.g. the Alps, but no studies have been made about the causes of the high speeds in less temperate areas where continuous permafrost can be found, like Svalbard. Here, surface velocities of rock glaciers previously have been measured to move very slow (less to 10cm/year) (Sollid and Sørbel, 1992).

2.2 Climate change and glaciers

Areas affected by permafrost can be very sensitive to climate change, since the soil temperature usually stays close to 0°C (Christiansen et al., 2010). At Janssonhaugen, a mountain located close to the study area of this report, temperature changes of 1.5 ± 0.5 °C in the permafrost have been detected to a depth of 80m (Isaksen et al., 2000a). Temperatures have also increased around 1°C between the little ice age (years \approx 1350-1850) and 1990, and between 0.5°C - 1 °C from 1990-2010 (Etzelmüller et al., 2011) and at rates between 0.06°C - 0.15°C per year between 2009-2019, at a depth of 10m (Bilt et al., 2019). This change in the environment and soil temperature will affect the stability and movement of the rock glaciers (Haeberli et al., 1998).

The general climate in Svalbard is heavily influenced by the West Atlantic Spitsbergen Current, from which small variations in position and strength can affect the climate (Ślubowska et al., 2005). The heat released from this current contributes to the wetter climate which can be found in Svalbard, compared to other larger landmasses which are located at the same latitude (Walczowski and Piechura, 2011). Svalbard, and the polar regions in general, is also more sensitive to climate change due to the polar amplification which causes a higher temperature change here, due to heat rising up in the atmosphere closer to the equator, then being transported by global wind patterns towards the poles (Holland and Bitz, 2003).

Many glaciers have shifted from a polythermal state to become more cold based. Cold based, meaning that the temperature at the bottom of the glacier that is in contact with the ground is below freezing, and polythermal which is a partly cold based and partly warm based glacier,

where a warm based has the ice-ground contact at or above 0°C (Bishop et al., 2011). One reason that more glaciers are becoming cold based is because they no longer have the same amount of snow cover that isolates them during summer periods (Bælum and Benn, 2011; Björnsson et al., 1996; Hodgkins et al., 1999). This thermal transition of glaciers leads to concurrent permafrost aggregation underneath them, but the speed at which this happens is poorly known. Glacier ice is also known to be insulated from debris cover, an effect that also should be significant for glacier-derived rock glaciers (Reznichenko et al., 2010).

2.3 UAV monitoring

UAVs (Unmaned Aerial Vehicles) have been used more and more in remote sensing processes and monitoring of different phenomenon, e.g. landslides (Lindner et al., 2016), coastlines changes (Gonçalves and Henriques, 2015) and the retreat of glaciers (Bhardwaj et al., 2016). Rock glaciers have also been studied in a similar way as in the present study to some extent (Kaufmann et al., 2018). UAVs have become cheaper and more accessible for anyone to use and can be used to produce digital elevation models (DEMs) through photogrametic softwares with similar accuracy to LiDAR (Polat and Uysal, 2018) and orthophotos with similar or even higher resolutions, down to a few centimeters or even millimeters, compared to areal images (Klemas, 2011; Polat and Uysal, 2018). The resolution of UAV derived ortophotos depends on different factors, such as what type of camera model the UAV have and at what height the drone is flying.

3 Material and methods

3.1 Study area

The rock glacier examined in this study is located in front of the Foxfonna glacier system (Figure 1) (78.14°N, 16.15°E), which consists of a low valley glacier and an upper ice cap. The study area is placed around 12.5km south-west of Longyearbyen, which is the largest town and the administrative center of Svalbard, Norway, with around 2000 inhabitants.



Figure 1: Location of the Foxfanna glacier on Svalbard (top-left inlet), and an aerial photo of the studied area.



Figure 2: Slope and elevation map of study area, with Adventdalen located in the top part of the map.

The surrounding rock formation mostly consists of sandstone, siltstone and shale (Major and Nagy, 1972). The valley that the water runs out into is about 60 masl (meters above sea-level), whilst the top of the rock glacier is around 350 masl. The rock glacier is around 1km tall, and is located on a slope between two rock-faces and is 380m wide at its widest point, with the melt water flowing out into Adventdalen (Figure 2). The surface topography of the rock glacier is especially interesting, due to its transverse ridges that have developed on top of it over time, which usually is an indicator of deforming and fast flowing ice (Roer et al., 2008). Underneath Foxfonna, the Gruve-7 mine passes where temperatures at a depth of 290m were recorded to be 0°C, which could be assumed to be the the approximate depth of the permafrost in the area (Christiansen et al., 2005).

A feature that is occurring in the upper part of the rock glacier where it meets the front of the Foxfonna glacier is icing (Figure 1), also known as naled or aufeis, which is common in proglacial areas in high latitudes (Hodgkins et al., 2004). The source of this icing is upwelling water, in this case ground water that has a subglacial or subpermafrost origin (Wadham et al., 2000). When ground water is exposed to air, oxidation will happen that leads to oxygen evolution and the release of iron (Champ et al., 1979). Presence of traces of iron on the surface is usually present where ground water is flowing. Due to the high conductivity of the ground water, water flow is still occurring even with sub zero temperature (Montgomery, 2007). This water will freeze after some distance forming icing. Upon freezing, latent heat is released providing the permafrost with heat to keep its temperature closer to 0 $^{\circ}$ C (Osterkamp, 1987). Icing has been studied on many different glaciers on Svalbard to see how it affects the water balance, the thermal regime of the permafrost and the hydrology (Mallinson et al., 2019). A 2m thick icing was found at the terminus of Scott Turnebreen glacier and icing was present in the terminus of the different glaciers in the Bayelva watershed, Svalbard (Nowak and Hodson, 2013; Hodgkins et al., 2004))

3.2 Data and photogrametry

In order to examine the Foxfonna rock glacier, aerial images from a UAV (Mavic 2 pro) were studied in this paper, combined with a DEM (digital elevation model) from 2009. The UAV images are from 2017 (5th of September), 2018 (27th of July) and 2019 (15th of July), covering the whole extent of the Foxfonna rock glacier. This data was processed to provide the basis of the intended monitoring of Foxfonna rock glacier, using both high resolution digital orthophotos and DEMs. A comparison between these different data sets then provided data for surface changes, both in movement and surface height. The imagery collected from the UAV surveys was processed in Agisoft Metashape version 1.5.1 (Agisoft LLC, St. Petersburg, Russia), where DEMs and orthophotos can be produced.

Agisoft starts with aligning all the photos, with structure from motion (SFM) techniques. The alignment also produces a sparse cloud of points where different images overlap and where the software can identify these points in 2 or more images. These points are also put into perspective with the help of depth maps, which are produced during the same steps. From this, the points are aligned in a XYZ-direction, making the primary structure of the 3D-model. After the alignment is

done, a dense cloud is produced, from where the software takes a similar approach but focuses even more on obtaining points which it can identify between different images. A DEM can be produced from the dense cloud, as well as an orthophoto and a tiled model.

3.2.1 Ground control points

Ground control points (GCPs) were used to georeference the 3D-model. Although the drone used to gather the imagery has it's own built-in GPS system, which works well with northing and easting, but errors can occur in altitude. This is because the drone acts as if its starting point is 0 meters above sea level. The GCPs are then used to both correct the altitude value, but also improve the northing and easting values for the 3D-model and its results.





To do this, points were added to features that were easily identified, e.g. corners on larger rocks, in both Agisoft Metashape (Figure 3) and on a reference satellite map of Svalbard (Polarinstitutt, 2012), which had a resolution of 0.15x0.15m. In Qgis, a point layer was created to represent these points from which the northing and easting values were imported from the reference map, with the help of the field calculator in the attribute table. Altitude values were collected through the Sample Raster Values tool from a DEM layer (Polarinstitutt, 2012) with a resolution of 5x5m, which covers Svalbard. With the coordinates for easting, northing and altitude in the point layer, the file was imported to Agisoft Metashape. GCPs in Agisoft was then updated with the new coordinate information from the point layer, which lowered the error estimations and corrected the altitude for the whole 3D model.

The orthophotos were then imported to Qgis (Team et al., 2016), and a tool called imcorr

from the GRASS toolbox was used to find the offset between the orthophotos from different years, i.e. 2017-2018 and 2018-2019. The images also had to be colour corrected and transformed into a gray-scale image, for the imcorr software to work properly. The results of offset were then plotted in Python.

Elevation changes between 2009 and 2019 were also calculated. A DEM from 2009 was imported from the Norwegian Polar Institute in a resolution of 5x5m, while the 2019 DEM is a product from the drone images in Agisoft Metashape from the present study. This DEM originally had a resolution of 0.3x0.3m, but was resampled with cubic spline interpolation, to 5x5m with the Warp tool from the SEGA toolbox, so that it would match the one from 2009. The changes were calculated using a raster calculator in Qgis, by subtracting the values of 2009 from 2019.

Structures that had similar surface features, i.e. crevasses that could potentially indicate a rapid movement, were manually identified and mapped over Svalbard in Qgis, using an orthomosaic from the Norwegian polar institute (Polarinstitutt, 2012).

4 Results

Twelve different structures, speculated to be rock glaciers with the same surface features as the one located at Foxfonna were identified and mapped out (Figure 4). All of them were found in the central part of Svalbard, in Nordenskiöld Land. Most of these are located on an altitude of approximately 250m-350m, and also facing northwards.



Figure 4: Locations of rock glaciers with similar surface features as Foxfonna.



Figure 5: Orthophotos from drone images of the rock glacier from 2017, 2018 and 2019.

The orthophotos produced from the drone images over the different years (Figure 5) attained a resolution of 9cm/pixel.

Year	Easting(m)	Northing(m)	Altitude(m)	Images
2017	0.350	0.268	0.371	573
2018	0.382	0.197	0.523	314
2019	0.482	0.538	0.658	410

Table 1: Error estimations of GCPs, created in Agisoft Metashape.

RMSE errors, extracted from the Agisoft software, of the 10 GCPs for each 3D-model were mostly lower than half a meter (Table 1), only exceeding it in three instances, one in Northing positioning and two in altitude. Overall, 2017 shows the lowest error estimations and 2019 the highest.

4.1 Movement 2017-2019



Figure 6: Movement of Foxfonna rock glacier between 2017-2018 and 2018-2019.

The rock glacier's advance from 2017-2019 (Figure 6), shows the results from the offsets of certain features in the ortophotos, and movement in the order of 0-2.5m/y can be found throughout the map.

The movement range from no (black) or very slow (dark purple), to higher (yellow). No-data values are shown as white areas, where the software couldn't compute differences due to not being able to match features. Higher velocities can be found in the northern part of the area for both periods, shifting towards a slower rate further south on it. The 2017-2018 period doesn't quite reach a change up to 2.5m/yr, but movements of 0.5m-1.5m/yr can be found throughout the majority of the area. In 2018-2019, changes up to 2m/yr are seen in a large area in the front of the rock glacier, indicating a rapid movement in this area.

4.2 Elevation changes 2009-2019

Between the years 2009-2019 the rock glacier has undergone elevation changes from its movement (Figure 7). A zero value indicates that no significant changes can be identified in those areas, while higher values indicate a positive accumulation of mass, and negative numbers indicate a loss. The highest values can be found in the northern part of the rock glacier, while lower values can be seen in the middle along the back of the rock glacier. Some of the features of the 2009 and 2019 DEMs were manually identified, which showed movements of up to 20m difference in the front, and up to 10m in the center of the back of the ridge. Low movements of around 1m, or even nothing at all, were detected from features in the southern part of the ridge, but elevation changes up to 5m were still identified in the map.

5 Discussion

5.1 Feasibility of UAV images

In this study images from a drone were used, which enabled a high-resolution coverage of the area. More traditional measurements of rock



Figure 7: Elevation changes between 2009-2019.

glacier movements have been done with i.e. steel rods (Serrano et al., 2006), or more recently with LiDAR measurements (Avian et al., 2009), or through SFM with photos captured from manned air crafts (Vargo et al., 2017). Drones can be favourable for these types of studies both due to the accessibility it can provide, and due to it being a more cost efficient choice than most of the other methods. Adding to its advantages, rasters produced from SFM with drone imagery can also acquire equally high-resolution imagery as LiDAR (Polat and Uysal, 2018). Drones are however limited by whatever range it can be controlled by its operator, thus one need to first get to a selected study site, which if it is remote enough, a manned aircraft could easier research. Similar studies, done on glaciers, which have used GCPs to make an accuracy assessment of the results of drone images, have obtained an accuracy of around 20cm (Chudley et al., 2019; Gindraux et al., 2017), whilst in this study the error estimation averaged 36cm horizontally (Table 1).

5.2 General

More movement can be seen between the years 2018-2019 than 2017-2018 (Figure 6). Movement is also detected outside of the area of the rock glacier, which are slopes that have experienced erosion. Overall the two periods show a similar pattern, that more surface movement takes place further north on the rock glacier and less movement further south. This also correlates well with the elevation changes between 2009-2019 (Figure 7), where a large increase in elevation can be seen in the upper part of the map. The large loss in elevation located here could potentially be explained by meltwater tunnels that collapse, a phenomenon that occurs in both glaciers and rock glaciers (White, 1976; Elconin and LaChapelle, 1997), which is indicated by a comparison between the ortophotos from the years 2018-2019 (Figure 8).



Figure 8: Collapse of a meltwater tunnel

Water can be seen flowing out from the rock glacier (Figure 8) in the area marked with a red square during 2017 and 2018, while water instead can be seen flowing towards this spot during 2019. The negative elevation changes on the back of the rock glacier are most likely the transverse ridges that moves forward. Offsets can also be detected outside the rock glacier itself (Figure 6).

Foxfonna rock glacier has a far greater movement compared to other rock glaciers on Svalbard. Near Foxfonna is the Hiorthfjellet rock glacier, located across the valley, where annual movement were found to be between 0.08-0.10m/y (Isaksen et al., 2000b). Similar velocities can also be found on several other rock glaciers throughout Svalbard (Sollid and Sørbel, 1992), indicating that the rock glacier located at Foxfonna is experiencing something unique for this region.

Why this is happening can only be speculated from the results of this report, since it is limited to aerial imagery only. At least 2 other rock glaciers with similar behaviour as the one at Foxfonna are located in close proximity (Figure 4), at the glaciers Fleinisen and Hallwybreen both of which icing seems to occurs, and could also be studied in a similar manner for a larger overview of why these movements take place. Rock glaciers of similar velocities, up to 3m/y, can however be found in the alps, where it was found that neither the slope or the type of bedrock in the areas played a large role in contribution to the movement, but the amount of ice and a warmer ice temperature did (Krainer and He, 2006).

The accuracy of the GCPs has a strong influence on the georeferencing of the UAV data, which then also would make the final result of the velocity map more accurate. The GCPs, as done with this methodology, depend on that no movement has occurred on whatever object that is used for referencing, as well as the resolution of the map which is used as a reference. As stated in the method section, corners in objects such as rocks, which were located in flat areas, were used for this to minimize the risk of errors occurring due to movement. However, when the reference map is in a lower resolution, the location of the GCPs had to be estimated inside a raster cell. The problem with selecting low movement areas in the models used here is also that the orthophotos tend to be somewhat scewed towards the edges, since not as many images are taken over these areas. Another problem to account for while choosing rocks as GCPs is that the elevation of these are most likely not represented by the 5x5m DEM, which might further contribute to errors in the elevation changes. GCPs can also be attained by manually collecting GPS points on site, if this would produce a lower or higher accuracy however depends on the quality of the GPS and how many satellites that can be attained (Westoby et al., 2012). Collecting GCPs through remote sensing however would mean less fieldwork and could be easier for similar studies in remote areas, where it might be harder to reach the required locations.

5.3 Limitations & future studies

The study would benefit from data collected repeatedly over a time period extending several years for more solid results. And, while Svalbard in itself is quite a remote area to the rest of the world, Foxfonna is located close to both Longyearbyen and a road leading there, which allows for this to be done relatively easy. Snow cover and shadows could potentially disrupt the image correlation offsets, which can be seen to some extent in figure 6, where areas where the software could not calculate offsets are shown as white spaces instead. For future studies on this area, or in similar situations, a period during the summer where snow cover in the area is at its minimum, and the sun is in an optimal position would be recommended.

For a large scale remote sensing analysis of the rock glacier, older ortho- photos could also be included in this. For a more in-depth investigation of the larger factors that contributes to the rapid movements, a borehole could be used to reveal the internal structure of it, in which slope instabilities caused from internal composition have been suggested to play a large role (Arenson et al., 2002). A borehole could also create an opportunity to study the internal temperature of the rock glacier at different depths. GPR (Ground Penetrating Radar) data could also be accompanied with this, which would provide similar data but at a larger spatial extent, and also provide knowledge of ice content, water pockets and thickness of the rock glacier (Berthling et al., 2000).

Furthermore, meltwater processes can also play a role in movement of a rock glacier through heath transfer processes from both refreezing water, since summer temperatures might not provide enough heat for melting of the ice, and the effect of wind speed (Humlum, 1997).

6 Conclusion

The Foxfonna rock glacier had rapid movement in its central area, and even higher speed further forward, with a maximum speed of 2-2.5m/y within the years of 2017-2019. No or very low movement was detected further south on the rock glacier. During the time period of 2009-2019, manual feature detection of the rock glacier revealed that some areas moved 20m in the front, 10m in the center and again, show a very slow movement of either nothing or up to a maximum of 1m. However, these areas still experienced elevation changes. Different factors that could influence these movements have been discussed, such as internal composition, melt and ground water processes and wind speeds. Future studies should include a larger time frame, meaning more repeat measurements should be taken, and for more in depth on what causes the movements, GPR, boreholes and meteorological factors should be included. This study also proves that monitoring of rock glaciers could be executed on a relatively low cost, i.e. collecting images with a UAV instead of collecting imagery with e.g. airplanes, while also attaining a high resolution providing that the images from the UAV have a high enough overlap and that georeferencing is done properly.

References

Anisimov, O. A., Shiklomanov, N. I., and Nelson, F. E. (1997). Global warming and activelayer thickness: results from transient general circulation models. *Global and Planetary Change*, 15(3-4):61–77.

Arenson, L., Hoelzle, M., and Springman, S. (2002). Borehole deformation measurements and internal structure of some rock glaciers in Switzerland. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 13(2):117–135.

Avian, M., Kellerer-Pirklbauer, A., and Bauer, A. (2009). Lidar for monitoring mass movements in permafrost environments at the cirque hinteres langtal, Austria, between 2000 and 2008.*Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*,9(4):1087.

Bælum, K. and Benn, D. (2011). Thermal structure and drainage system of a smallvalley glacier (Tellbreen, Svalbard), investigated by ground penetrating radar. *The Cryosphere*, 5(1):139.

Berthling, I., Etzelmüller, B., Isaksen, K., and Sollid, J. L. (2000). Rock glaciers on Prins Karls Forland. ii: Gpr soundings and the development of internal structures. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 11(4):357–369.

Bhardwaj, A., Sam, L., Martín-Torres, F. J., Kumar, R., et al. (2016). UAVs as re-mote sensing platform in glaciology: Present applications and prospects. *Remote sensing of environment*, 175:196–204.

Bilt, W. v. d., Bakke, J., Smedsrud, L. H., Sund, M., Schuler, T., Westermann, S., Wong, W. K., Sandven, S., Simpson, M. J. R., Skogen, M. D., et al. (2019). Climate in Svalbard 2100.

Bishop, M. P., Björnsson, H., Haeberli, W., Oerlemans, J., Shroder, J. F., andTranter, M. (2011). *Encyclopedia of snow, ice and glaciers*. Springer Science& Business Media.

Björnsson, H., Gjessing, Y., Hamran, S.-E., Hagen, J. O., LiestøL, O., Pálsson, F., and Erlingsson, B. (1996). The thermal regime of sub-polar glaciers mapped by multi-frequency radio-echo sounding. *Journal of Glaciology*, 42(140):23–32.

Champ, D. R., Gulens, J., and Jackson, R. E. (1979). Oxidation–reduction sequences in ground water flow systems. *Canadian Journal of earth sciences*,16(1):12–23.

Christiansen, H. H., Etzelmüller, B., Isaksen, K., Juliussen, H., Farbrot, H., Hum-lum, O., Johansson, M., Ingeman-Nielsen, T., Kristensen, L., Hjort, J., et al. (2010). The thermal state of permafrost in the Nordic area during the international polar year 2007–2009.*Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 21(2):156–181.

Christiansen, H. H., French, H. M., and Humlum, O. (2005). Permafrost in thegruve-7 mine, Adventdalen, Svalbard. *Norsk Geografisk Tidsskrift-Norwegian Journal of Geography*, 59(2):109–115.

Chudley, T., Christoffersen, P., Doyle, S. H., Abellan Fernandez, A., and Snooke, N. (2019). High-accuracy UAV photogrammetry of ice sheet dynamics with no ground control. Elconin, R. F. and LaChapelle, E. R. (1997). Flow and internal structure of a rockglacier. *Journal of Glaciology*, 43(144):238–244.

Etzelmüller, B., Schuler, T., Isaksen, K., Christiansen, H., Farbrot, H., and Benestad, R. (2011). Modelling the temperature evolution of Svalbard permafrost during the 20th and 21st century. *The Cryosphere*, 5(1):67.

Gindraux, S., Boesch, R., and Farinotti, D. (2017). Accuracy assessment of digital surface models from unmanned aerial vehicles' imagery on glaciers. *Remote Sensing*, 9(2):186.

Gonçalves, J. and Henriques, R. (2015). UAV photogrammetry for topographic monitoring of coastal areas. *ISPRS journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 104:101–111.

Haeberli, W., Hoelzle, M., Kääb, A., Keller, F., Vonder Mühll, D., and Wagner, S. (1998). Ten years after drilling through the permafrost of the active rockglacier Murtèl, eastern swiss alps: answered questions and new perspectives. In *Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Permafrost*, pages403–410. Université Laval Québec, Canada

Harland, W. B. (1997). Svalbard. Geological Society, London, Memoirs, 17(1):3-15

Hodgkins, R., Hagen, J. O., and Hamran, S.-E. (1999). 20th century mass balance and thermal regime change at Scott Turnerbreen, Dvalbard. *Annals of Glaciology*,28:216–220

Hodgkins, R., Tranter, M., and Dowdeswell, J. A. (2004). The characteristics and formation of a high-arctic proglacial icing. *Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography*, 86(3):265–275.

Holland, M. M. and Bitz, C. M. (2003). Polar amplification of climate change in coupled models. *Climate Dynamics*, 21(3-4):221–232.

Humlum, O. (1997). Active layer thermal regime at three rock glaciers in Greenland. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 8(4):383–408.

Humlum, O. (1998). The climatic significance of rockglaciers. *Permafrost and periglacial processes*, 9(4):375–395.

Humlum, O. (1999). Late-holocene climate in central west Greenland: meteorological data and rock-glacier isotope evidence. *The Holocene*, 9(5):581–594.

Humlum, O., Instanes, A., and Sollid, J. L. (2003). Permafrost in Svalbard: a review of research history, climatic background and engineering challenges. *Polar research*, 22(2):191–215.

Isaksen, K., Mühll, D. V., Gubler, H., Kohl, T., and Sollid, J. L. (2000a). Ground surfacetemperature reconstruction based on data from a deep borehole in permafrost at Janssonhaugen, Svalbard. *Annals of Glaciology*, 31:287–294.

Isaksen, K., Ødegård, R. S., Eiken, T., and Sollid, J. L. (2000b). Composition, flow and development of two tongue-shaped rock glaciers in the permafrost of Svalbard. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 11(3):241–257.

Kalinowska, A., Szopińska, M., Chmiel, S., Kończak, M., Polkowska, Ż., Arti-chowicz, W., Jankowska, K., Nowak, A., and Łuczkiewicz, A. (2020). Heavy metals in a high arctic fiord

and their introduction with the wastewater: A case study of Adventfjorden-Longyearbyen system, Svalbard. *Water*, 12(3):794.

Kaufmann, V., Seier, G., Sulzer, W., Wecht, M., Liu, Q., Lauk, G., and Maurer, M. (2018). Rock glacier monitoring using aerial photographs: Conventionalvs. UAV-based mapping–a comparative study. *International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing & Spatial Information Sciences*.

Klemas, V. (2011). Remote sensing of wetlands: case studies comparing practical techniques. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 27(3):418–427.

Krainer, K. and He, X. (2006). Flow velocities of active rock glaciers in the Austrian alps. *Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography*, 88(4):267–280.

Krainer, K. and Mostler, W. (2000). Reichenkar rock glacier: a glacier derived debris-ice system in the western Stubai alps, Austria. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 11(3):267–275.

Lindner, G., Schraml, K., Mansberger, R., and Hübl, J. (2016). UAV monitoring and documentation of a large landslide. *Applied Geomatics*, 8(1):1–11.

Major, H. and Nagy, J. (1972). Geology of the Adventdalen map area: with ageological map, Svalbard 1: 100 000.

Mallinson, L., Swift, D. A., and Sole, A. (2019). Proglacial icings as indicators of glacier thermal regime: ice thickness changes and icing occurrence in Svalbard. *Geografiska Annaler: Series A, Physical Geography*, 101(4):334–349.

Montgomery, J. H. (2007). Groundwater chemicals desk reference. CRC Press.

Nowak, A. and Hodson, A. (2013). Hydrological response of a high-arctic catchment to changing climate over the past 35 years: a case study of Bayelva watershed, Svalbard. *Polar Research*, 32(1):19691.

Osterkamp, T. (1987). Freezing and thawing of soils and permafrost containing unfrozen water or brine. *Water Resources Research*, 23(12):2279–2285.

Outcalt, S. I. and Benedict, J. B. (1965). Photo-interpretation of two types of rockglacier in the Colorado front range, USA. *Journal of Glaciology*, 5(42):849–856.

Polarinstitutt, N. (2012). Toposvalbard.

Polat, N. and Uysal, M. (2018). An experimental analysis of digital elevation models generated with lidar data and UAV photogrammetry. *Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing*, 46(7):1135–1142.

Reznichenko, N., Davies, T., Shulmeister, J., and McSaveney, M. (2010). Effects of debris on ice-surface melting rates: an experimental study. *Journal of Glaciology*, 56(197):384–394.

Richardson, S. D. and Reynolds, J. M. (2000). Degradation of ice-cored morainedams: implications for hazard development. *IAHS PUBLICATION*, pages 187–198.

Roer, I., Haeberli, W., Avian, M., Kaufmann, V., Delaloye, R., Lambiel, C., andKääb, A. (2008). Observations and considerations on destabilizing active rockglaciers in the European alps.

Schoeneich, P., Bodin, X., Echelard, T., Kaufmann, V., Kellerer-Pirklbauer, A., Krysiecki, J.-M., and Lieb, G. (2015). Velocity changes of rock glaciers and induced hazards. *In Engineering Geology for Society and Territory-Volume 1*, pages 223–227. Springer.

Serrano, E., San José, J., and Agudo, C. (2006). Rock glacier dynamics in a marginal periglacial high mountain environment: Flow, movement (1991–2000) and structure of the Argualas rock glacier, the Pyrenees. *Geomorphology*,74(1-4):285–296.

Ślubowska, M. A., Koç, N., Rasmussen, T. L., and Klitgaard-Kristensen, D. (2005). Changes in the flow of Atlantic water into the arctic ocean since the last deglaciation: evidence from the northern Svalbard continental margin, 80n. *Paleoceanography*, 20(4).

Sollid, J. L. and Sørbel, L. (1992). Rock glaciers in Svalbard and Norway. *Permafrost and Periglacial Processes*, 3(3):215–220.

Team, Q. D. et al. (2016). Qgis geographic information system. *Open source geospatial Foundation project*.

Vargo, L. J., Anderson, B. M., Horgan, H. J., Mackintosh, A. N., Lorrey, A. M., and Thornton, M. (2017). Using structure from motion photogrammetry to measure past glacier changes from historic aerial photographs. *Journal of Glaciology*, 63(242):1105–1118.

Wadham, J., Tranter, M., and Dowdeswell, J. (2000). Hydrochemistry of meltwaters draining a polythermal-based, high-arctic glacier, south Svalbard: winter and early spring. *Hydrological Processes*, 14(10):1767–1786.

Walczowski, W. and Piechura, J. (2011). Influence of the west Spitsbergen current on the local climate. *International journal of climatology*, 31(7):1088–1093.

Westoby, M. J., Brasington, J., Glasser, N. F., Hambrey, M. J., and Reynolds, J. M.(2012). 'structure-from-motion 'photogrammetry: A low-cost, effective tool for geoscience applications. *Geomorphology*, 179:300–314.

White, S. E. (1976). Rock glaciers and block fields, review and new data. *Quaternary Research*, 6(1):77–97.